

Original Research Article

Dietary Patterns and Anthropometric Status of Non-Pregnant Mothers at General Hospital Uromi, Edo State, Nigeria

ABSTRACT

Aim: This study assessed the dietary patterns, anthropometric status, and health behaviors of non-pregnant mothers attending General Hospital Uromi, Edo State, Nigeria.

Comment [AH1]: Please add short notes about the background before the aim.

Study Design & Methodology: A cross-sectional study was conducted from June 2024 to January 2025, involving 120 non-pregnant mothers (18–49 years) selected through systematic random sampling. Data were collected using structured questionnaires on sociodemographics, dietary habits, physical activity, and health behaviors. Anthropometric measurements (weight, height, and waist circumference) were taken, and BMI was calculated. Ethical approval was obtained, and data were analyzed using SPSS version 26.

Comment [AH2]: Delete it.

Results: Most participants were aged 30–39 years (49.2%), married (65.8%), and self-employed (42.5%), with 67.5% earning ₦10,000–₦50,000 monthly. Dietary diversity was poor, with grains (29.2%) and proteins (25%) dominating, while fruits and vegetables were minimally consumed (8.3%). Breakfast skipping (25%) and sugary beverage consumption (50%) were common. Overweight and obesity rates were 30.8% and 35%, respectively, with 40% having waist circumferences of 81–90 cm. Despite 64.2% engaging in physical activity, only 4.2% exercised daily. Hypertension (2.5%) and diabetes (4.2%) were uncommon but pose future risks due to high obesity rates.

Comment [AH3]: Clarify the abbreviation.

Conclusion: Poor dietary diversity and high obesity rates highlight the need for nutrition education, improved access to healthy foods, and community-based interventions to reduce NCD risks and enhance maternal health.

Comment [AH4]: Clarify the abbreviation.

Keywords: Dietary patterns, Anthropometric status, Non-pregnant mothers, Obesity, Overweight

INTRODUCTION

Despite evidence that anthropometric indices for non-pregnant women vary across low- and middle-income populations, limited studies have specifically examined dietary patterns, obesity, and health behaviors among non-pregnant mothers in Uromi, Edo State, highlighting the need for localized research (1).

Maternal nutrition is a critical determinant of health outcomes for both mothers and their families. Non-pregnant mothers play an essential role in household nutrition as caregivers and decision-makers,

making their dietary patterns and health behaviors pivotal for overall family well-being (2). However, the global shift towards energy-dense, nutrient-poor diets has exacerbated health challenges, particularly in low- and middle-income countries (LMICs) like Nigeria, where the double burden of malnutrition persists (3). While undernutrition remains a concern, the rising prevalence of overweight and obesity among women of reproductive age has introduced new public health challenges, including the increasing risk of non-communicable diseases (NCDs) such as diabetes and cardiovascular diseases (4,5).

The dietary habits of non-pregnant mothers are shaped by a complex interplay of sociodemographic, cultural, and environmental factors. Economic constraints, limited access to diverse foods, and low levels of nutrition education contribute to poor dietary diversity in many LMICs (6,7). Furthermore, cultural norms and rapid urbanization often influence food preferences, increasing the consumption of processed and unhealthy foods (8). A growing body of evidence indicates that the nutrition transition in these countries is fueling the obesity epidemic, which contributes significantly to NCDs (9,10).

Anthropometric measures such as Body Mass Index (BMI) and waist circumference are critical tools for assessing maternal health. High BMI and central obesity are strongly associated with metabolic syndrome and other chronic health conditions (11). Despite global recognition of these issues, limited studies have focused on the dietary and health behaviors of non-pregnant mothers in rural Nigerian settings. This study aims to fill this gap by examining the dietary patterns, anthropometric status, and health behaviors of non-pregnant mothers in Uromi, Edo State.

Comment [AH5]: aimed

METHODOLOGY

Study Area

The study was conducted at the General Hospital Uromi, located in Uromi, Esan North-East Local Government Area of Edo State, Nigeria. Uromi is a semi-urban area predominantly inhabited by the Esan

ethnic group. The hospital is a major healthcare facility providing medical services to the local population, including maternal and child health services. Its strategic location and diverse patient population made it suitable for assessing dietary patterns and anthropometric status among non-pregnant mothers.

Study Design

A cross-sectional descriptive design was employed to examine the dietary patterns, anthropometric status, and associated health behaviors of non-pregnant mothers attending the hospital. This design allowed for the collection of data at a single point in time to identify key characteristics and associations without inferring causality.

Study Population

Non-pregnant mothers aged 18–49 years attending General Hospital Uromi for healthcare services. The study population comprised women visiting the hospital for routine check-ups, minor health concerns, or as caregivers for their children.

Sample Size

The sample size was determined using the formula for a finite population:

Comment [AH6]: please add a reference.

$$n = \frac{N}{1 + N(e)^2}$$

Where:

n = required sample size

N = estimated population size (500)

e = margin of error (0.05)

The calculated sample size was 120 participants, adjusted by 10% for potential non-responses, resulting in a final sample size of 150.

Sampling Technique

A systematic random sampling method was used to select participants. A sampling frame was developed from the hospital's outpatient registry, and every third eligible mother was selected. If a selected participant declined or was unavailable, the next eligible individual on the list was approached.

Data Collection

Data were collected through two main approaches:

1. Questionnaire: A structured, interviewer-administered questionnaire was used to gather information on sociodemographics, dietary patterns, and health behaviors. Questions addressed meal frequency, food group consumption, and physical activity.
2. Anthropometric Measurements: Participants' height and weight were measured using a stadiometer and digital scale, respectively, while waist circumference was measured using a non-elastic measuring tape. Body Mass Index (BMI) (Body Mass Index (BMI) was calculated as weight (kg) divided by height squared (m^2). BMI classification followed the WHO criteria (WHO, 2000), categorizing underweight ($<18.5 \text{ kg}/m^2$), normal weight ($18.5\text{--}24.9 \text{ kg}/m^2$), overweight ($25.0\text{--}29.9 \text{ kg}/m^2$), and obesity ($\geq 30.0 \text{ kg}/m^2$) was calculated as weight (kg) divided by height (m^2).

Ethical Considerations

Ethical approval was obtained from the relevant ethics committee, and informed consent was sought from all participants. They were assured of confidentiality, and participation was voluntary, with the option to withdraw at any time without consequences.

Data Analysis

Data were coded and analyzed using SPSS (Statistical Package for the Social Sciences version 26.0 (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, USA), with descriptive statistics such as frequencies and percentages summarizing the findings.

). Descriptive statistics, including frequencies and percentages, were used to summarize sociodemographic data, dietary patterns, and anthropometric measurements. Graphical presentations in tables, was employed to enhance data interpretation.

RESULTS

Sociodemographic Information

The participants were predominantly aged 30–39 years (49.2%), married (65.8%), and self-employed (42.5%). The majority earned between ₦10,000 and ₦50,000 monthly (67.5%). Educational attainment showed that 40% had secondary education, while 35% had tertiary education. Most participants (83.3%) identified as Esan, reflecting the study area's ethnic composition.

Table 1: Sociodemographic Information

Age	Frequency	Percentage(%)
18-29	34	28.3%
30-39	59	49.2%
40-49	20	16.7%
50 and above	7	5.8%
Total	120	100%
Marital status	Frequency	Percentage(%)
Single	25	20.8%

Comment [AH7]: This table is anot appearing within the text.

Married	79	65.8%
Divorced	6	5%
Widowed	10	8.3%
Total	120	100%
Level of Education	Frequency	Percentage(%)
No formal education	7	5.8%
Primary education	23	19.2%
Secondary education	48	40%
Tertiary education	42	35%
Total	120	100%
Occupation	Frequency	Percentage(%)
Unemployed	15	12.5%
Self-employed	51	42.5%
Civil servant	36	30%
Private sector employee	18	15%
Total	120	100%
Household Monthly Income	Frequency	Percentage(%)
Less than #10,000	27	22.5%
#10,000 - #50,000	81	67.5%
#50,000 - #100,000	8	6.7%
Above #100,000	4	3.3%
Total	120	100%
Number of Children	Frequency	Percentage (%)
1 child	18	15%

2-3 children	47	39.2%
4-5 children	27	22.5%
More than 5 children	2	1.7%
None	26	21.7%
Total	120	100%
Ethnicity	Frequency	Percentage(%)
Esan	100	83.3%
Yoruba	8	6.7%
Igbo	10	8.3%
Hausa	0	0%
Others	2	1.7%
Total	120	100%

Dietary Patterns

The majority of participants consumed three meals daily (65.8%). However, dietary diversity was poor: grains (29.2%) and proteins (25%) were the most consumed food groups, while fruits and vegetables were rarely included in daily diets (8.3% each). Breakfast was the most commonly skipped meal (25%), while 50% consumed sugary beverages 1–2 times per week. Alcohol consumption was minimal, with 80.8% reporting complete abstinence. The results are shown in Table 2.

Table 2: Dietary Patterns

How many meals do you eat in a day	Frequency	Percentage(%)
One meal	0	0%
Two meals	19	15.8%
Three meals	79	65.8%
More than three meals	22	18.3%
Total	120	100%
Do you include the following food groups in your daily diet	Frequency	Percentage(%)

Grains	35	29.2%
Vegetables	10	8.3%
Fruits	10	8.3%
Proteins	30	25%
Dairy products	5	4.2%
Fats and oils	15	12.5%
Sugary foods	15	12.5%
Total	120	100%
How often do you consume fruits	Frequency	Percentage(%)
Daily	4	3.3%
3-5 times a week	40	33.3%
1-2 times a week	62	51.7%
Rarely	14	11.7%
Never	0	0%
Total	120	100%
How often do you consume vegetables	Frequency	Percentage(%)
Daily	5	4.2%
3-5 times a week	30	25%
1-2 times a week	60	50%
Rarely	25	20.8%
Never	0	0%
Total	120	100%
How often do you consume fast food or processed food	Frequency	Percentage(%)
Daily	1	0.8%

3-5 times a week	8	6.7%
1-2 times a week	51	42.5%
Rarely	58	48.3%
Never	2	1.7%
Total	120	100%
Do you skip any of the following meals regularly	Frequency	Percentage(%)
Breakfast	30	25%
Lunch	24	20%
Dinner	3	2.5%
None	63	52.5%
Total	120	100%
How often do you drink sugary beverages	Frequency	Percentage(%)
Daily	2	1.7%
3-5 times a week	7	5.8%
1-2 times a week	60	50%
Rarely	47	39.2%
Never	4	3.3%
Total	120	100%
How often do you consume alcohol	Frequency	Percentage(%)
Never	97	80.8%
Occasionally	23	19.2%
Weekly	0	0%
Daily	0	0%
Total	120	100%

Anthropometric Measurements

Anthropometric assessments revealed high prevalence rates of overweight (30.8%) and obesity (35%), with only 23.3% of participants falling within the normal BMI range. Central obesity was prevalent, with 40% of participants having waist circumferences between 81–90 cm. This indicated a significant risk of metabolic complications (Table 3).

Table 3: Anthropometric Measurements

What is your BMI	Frequency	Percentage(%)
Underweight: BMI <18.5	1	0.8%
Normal weight: BMI 18.5 - 24.9	28	23.3%
Overweight: BMI 25 - 29.9	37	30.8%
Obesity(class 1): BMI 30 - 34.9	42	35%

Obesity(class 2): BMI 35 - 39.9	12	10%
Obesity(class 3): BMI \geq 40	0	0%
Total	120	100%
What is your waist circumference	Frequency	Percentage(%)
60 - 70cm	12	10%
71 - 80cm	40	33.3%
81 - 90cm	48	40%
91 - 100cm	16	13.3%
101 - 110cm	4	3.3%
Total	120	100%

Health and Physical Activity

Regarding physical activity, 64.2% of participants reported engaging in regular physical activity, but only 4.2% exercised daily. Chronic conditions such as hypertension (2.5%) and diabetes (4.2%) were relatively uncommon, though the high rates of obesity suggest potential long-term health risks. Additionally, 53.3%

of participants had received nutrition counseling, yet gaps between knowledge and practice persisted, as reflected in the poor dietary diversity. The detail is shown in Table 4.

Table 4: Health and Physical Activity

Do you engage in regular physical activity or exercise	Frequency	Percentage(%)
Yes	77	64.2%
No	43	35.8%

Total	120	100%
If yes, how often do you exercise	Frequency	Percentage(%)
Daily	5	4.2%
3-5 times a week	10	8.3%
1-2 times a week	37	30.8%
Rarely	25	20.8%
None	43	35.8%
Total	120	100%
Do you have any existing medical conditions	Frequency	Percentage(%)
Hypertension	3	2.5%
Diabetes	5	4.2%
Heart disease	1	0.8%
Others	3	2.5%
None	108	90%
Total	120	100%
Are you currently taking any medication for weight management or any other chronic condition	Frequency	Percentage(%)
Yes	8	6.7%
No	112	93.3%
Total	120	100%
Have you received any nutrition counselling or dietary advice from a healthcare professional in the past year	Frequency	Percentage(%)
Yes	64	53.3%

No	56	46.7%
Total	120	100%

DISCUSSION OF RESULTS

The findings revealed that most participants were aged 30–39 years (49.2%), married (65.8%), and self-employed (42.5%). These results align with previous studies, which indicate that middle-aged women in LMICs are often engaged in self-employment due to economic constraints and limited formal job

Comment [AH8]: Please, separate the two sections with adding Results (with increasing its text) before discussion.

opportunities (12,13). The high prevalence of low-income earners (67.5%) highlights economic barriers that restrict access to diverse, nutritious foods (14).

Despite most participants consuming three meals daily (65.8%), dietary diversity was poor, with grains (29.2%) and proteins (25%) dominating diets, while fruits and vegetables were underrepresented (8.3%). The observed breakfast skipping rate of 25% mirrors global trends, where breakfast omission is linked to poor energy regulation and increased obesity risks (15). The moderate consumption of sugary beverages (50% consuming 1–2 times weekly) poses significant health risks, as frequent intake of these drinks is associated with weight gain and metabolic disorders (15).

Anthropometric data showed high rates of overweight (30.8%) and obesity (35%), with only 23.3% of participants having a normal BMI. These findings are consistent with studies by Adedoye et al. (2021), who reported rising obesity rates among Nigerian women, attributed to urbanization, dietary transitions, and physical inactivity (16). Central obesity was also prevalent, with 40% of participants having waist circumferences between 81–90 cm, indicating moderate metabolic risks. Central obesity, a stronger predictor of metabolic syndrome than BMI alone, increases the risk of cardiovascular diseases and type 2 diabetes (11,17).

Although 64.2% of participants reported engaging in regular physical activity, only 4.2% exercised daily. This low level of consistent physical activity reflects findings by Bigman et al. (2022), who identified physical inactivity as a growing concern in Nigeria, especially among women (18). The high prevalence of overweight and obesity in this study suggests that the reported physical activity levels may be insufficient to offset caloric intake (19).

The prevalence of hypertension (2.5%) and diabetes (4.2%) was relatively low; however, these conditions are likely to increase over time due to the high rates of obesity. Studies have established that

obesity significantly elevates the risk of NCDs, including hypertension and diabetes, especially in LMICs undergoing nutrition transitions (20,21).

While the study provides valuable insights, several limitations must be acknowledged. First, the reliance on self-reported dietary patterns and physical activity levels may introduce reporting bias. Participants may have underreported unhealthy behaviors or overestimated physical activity. Second, the cross-sectional design limits the ability to establish causal relationships between dietary patterns, physical activity, and anthropometric outcomes. Longitudinal studies are needed to better understand these dynamics (22).

Additionally, the study's focus on a single hospital in Uromi limits the generalizability of findings to other regions with differing sociodemographic and cultural contexts. Future research should include a larger, more diverse sample to enhance representativeness (23). Finally, while the study highlights poor dietary diversity, it does not assess micronutrient deficiencies, which are critical for understanding the broader implications of maternal nutrition (24).

CONCLUSION

The study revealed significant nutritional and health challenges among non-pregnant mothers in Uromi, including poor dietary diversity, high prevalence of overweight (30.8%) and obesity (35%), and limited physical activity. Central obesity, a key metabolic risk factor, was prevalent among participants. Sociodemographic factors, such as low income and moderate education levels, influenced poor dietary practices. Despite receiving nutrition counseling, participants demonstrated limited adoption of healthier dietary behaviors, underscoring the need for more practical and targeted interventions.

If left unaddressed, these trends may lead to an increase in non-communicable diseases such as hypertension and diabetes, emphasizing the urgent need for public health strategies to promote better nutrition and active lifestyles.

Disclaimer (Artificial intelligence)

Option 1:

Author(s) hereby declare that NO generative AI technologies such as Large Language Models (ChatGPT, COPILOT, etc.) and text-to-image generators have been used during the writing or editing of this manuscript.

Option 2:

Author(s) hereby declare that generative AI technologies such as Large Language Models, etc. have been used during the writing or editing of manuscripts. This explanation will include the name, version, model, and source of the generative AI technology and as well as all input prompts provided to the generative AI technology

Details of the AI usage are given below:

- 1.
- 2.
- 3.

REFERENCES

1. Hambidge KM, Krebs NF, Garcés A, Westcott JE, Figueroa L, Goudar SS, Dhaded S, Pasha O, Aziz Ali S, Tshetu A, Lokangaka A. Anthropometric indices for non-pregnant women of childbearing age differ widely among four low-middle income populations. BMC public health. 2018 Dec;18:1-2.
2. Chen H, Rogers R. The role of non-pregnant mothers in shaping family nutrition and health outcomes. J Nutr Educ Behav. 2022;54(2):181-9. doi:10.1016/j.jneb.2021.10.012.
3. Winichagoon P, Margetts BM. The double burden of malnutrition in low- and middle-income countries. In: Romieu I, Dossus L, Willett WC, editors. Energy Balance and Obesity. Lyon (FR): International Agency for Research on Cancer; 2017. (IARC Working Group Reports, No. 10.) Available from: <https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK565820/>.

4. Ejigu BA, Tiruneh FN. The link between overweight/obesity and noncommunicable diseases in Ethiopia: Evidences from nationwide WHO STEPS survey 2015. *Int J Hypertens*. 2023 Nov 16;2023:2199853. doi:10.1155/2023/2199853. PMID: 38023617; PMCID: PMC10667048.
5. Tamir TT, Mekonen EG, Workneh BS, Techane MA, Terefe B, Zegeye AF. Overnutrition and associated factors among women of reproductive age in Sub-Saharan Africa: A hierarchical analysis of 2019–2023 standard demographic and health survey data. *Nutr*. 2024;128:112563. doi:10.1016/j.nut.2024.112563. Available from: <https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0899900724002120>.
6. Olatona FA, Olowu OJ, Goodman OO, Amu EO. Dietary habits, diversity, and predictors among pregnant women attending primary health care centers for antenatal care in Lagos, Nigeria. *J Family Med Prim Care*. 2021 Aug;10(8):3076-83. doi:10.4103/jfmprc.jfmprc_397_21. PMID: 34660450; PMCID: PMC8483102.
7. Gokhale D, Rao S. Socio-economic and socio-demographic determinants of diet diversity among rural pregnant women from Pune, India. *BMC Nutr*. 2022;8:54. doi:10.1186/s40795-022-00547-2.
8. Colozza D, Wang Y-C, Avendano M. Does urbanisation lead to unhealthy diets? Longitudinal evidence from Indonesia. *Health Place*. 2023;83:103091. doi:10.1016/j.healthplace.2023.103091. Available from: <https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1353829223001284>.
9. Dominguez LJ, Veronese N, Di Bella G, Cusumano C, Parisi A, Tagliaferri F, et al. Mediterranean diet in the management and prevention of obesity. *Exp Gerontol*. 2023;174:112121. doi:10.1016/j.exger.2023.112121. Available from: <https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0531556523000426>.
10. Abay KA, Ibrahim H, Breisinger C. Food policies and obesity in low- and middle-income countries. *World Dev*. 2022;151:105775. doi:10.1016/j.worlddev.2021.105775. Available from: <https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0305750X21003909>.
11. Piqueras P, Ballester A, Durá-Gil JV, Martínez-Hervas S, Redón J, Real JT. Anthropometric indicators as a tool for diagnosis of obesity and other health risk factors: A literature review. *Front Psychol*. 2021;12:631179. doi:10.3389/fpsyg.2021.631179.
12. Oddo VM, Ickes SB. Maternal employment in low- and middle-income countries is associated with improved infant and young child feeding. *Am J Clin Nutr*. 2018 Mar;107(3):335-44. doi:10.1093/ajcn/nqy001. PMID: 29566201; PMCID: PMC6248412.
13. Torm N, Oehme M. Social protection and formalization in low- and middle-income countries: A scoping review of the literature. *World Dev*. 2024;181:106662. doi:10.1016/j.worlddev.2024.106662. Available from: <https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0305750X24001323>.
14. Pérez-Vega KA, Lassale C, Zomeño M-D, Castañer O, Salas-Salvadó J, Basterra-Gortari FJ, et al. Breakfast energy intake and dietary quality and trajectories of cardiometabolic risk factors in older adults. *J Nutr Health Aging*. 2024;28(12):100406. doi:10.1016/j.jnha.2024.100406.
15. González-Morales R, Canto-Orsorio F, Stern D, et al. Soft drink intake is associated with weight gain, regardless of physical activity levels: The health workers cohort study. *Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act*. 2020;17:60. doi:10.1186/s12966-020-00963-2.

16. Adeloye D, Ige-Elegbede JO, Ezejimofor M, Owolabi EO, Ezeigwe N, Omoyele C, et al. Estimating the prevalence of overweight and obesity in Nigeria in 2020: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Ann Med*. 2021;53(1):495-507. doi:10.1080/07853890.2021.1897665. PMID: 33783281; PMCID: PMC8018557.
17. Xueshan J, Jiajun L, Qiuyu C, Jiehua L, Guangfu W, Longhui L, et al. Normal-weight central obesity: Implications for diabetes mellitus. *Front Nutr*. 2023;10:1239493. doi:10.3389/fnut.2023.1239493.
18. Bigman G, Adebamowo SN, Yawe KT, Yilkudi M, Olaomi O, Badejo O, et al. Leisure-time physical activity is associated with reduced risks of breast cancer and triple-negative breast cancer in Nigerian women. *Cancer Epidemiol*. 2022 Aug;79:102195. doi:10.1016/j.canep.2022.102195. PMID: 35717688; PMCID: PMC9904209.
19. Leitzmann M. Physical activity, sedentary behaviour, and obesity. In: Romieu I, Dossus L, Willett WC, editors. *Energy Balance and Obesity*. Lyon (FR): International Agency for Research on Cancer; 2017. (IARC Working Group Reports, No. 10.) Available from: <https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK565813/>.
20. Popkin BM, Ng SW. The nutrition transition to a stage of high obesity and noncommunicable disease prevalence dominated by ultra-processed foods is not inevitable. *Obes Rev*. 2022;23(1):e13366. doi:10.1111/obr.13366. PMID: 34632692; PMCID: PMC8639733.
21. Nguyen PH, Tauseef S, Khuong LQ, Das Gupta R, Billah SM, Menon P, et al. Underweight, overweight or obesity, diabetes, and hypertension in Bangladesh, 2004 to 2018. *PLoS One*. 2022;17(9):e0275151. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0275151.
22. Wang X, Cheng Z. Cross-sectional studies: Strengths, weaknesses, and recommendations. *Chest*. 2020 Jul;158(1S):S65-S71. doi:10.1016/j.chest.2020.03.012. PMID: 32658654.
23. Vasileiou K, Barnett J, Thorpe S, et al. Characterising and justifying sample size sufficiency in interview-based studies: Systematic analysis of qualitative health research over a 15-year period. *BMC Med Res Methodol*. 2018;18:148. doi:10.1186/s12874-018-0594-7.
24. Gernand AD, Schulze KJ, Stewart CP, West KP Jr, Christian P. Micronutrient deficiencies in pregnancy worldwide: Health effects and prevention. *Nat Rev Endocrinol*. 2016 May;12(5):274-89. doi:10.1038/nrendo.2016.37. PMID: 27032981; PMCID: PMC4927329.